
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Thursday, 6 
February 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Gravesham Community Leisure Ltd PRESENTATION 

6. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - 
December) 

(Pages 9 - 22)

To present the Members of Community & Leisure Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced 
within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2019-20 (October 
to December 2019). 

7. Youth Democracy Scheme VERBAL ITEM 



8. Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee - Partnership Register Extract (Pages 23 - 50)

9. Market Working Group ORAL UPDATE 

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Cllr Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Baljit Hayre
Jordan Meade
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community Services Cabinet Committee 

Monday, 25 November 2019                                         7:30pm  

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Brian Francis 
Christina Rolles 
Lyn Milner 
Ejaz Aslam 
Les Hoskins 
Bob Lane 
Jordan Meade
Harold Craske 

Simon Hookway 
Anita Tysoe  
Adrian Hickmott 
Danielle Lock  

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) 
Leisure & Resilience Manager 
Sports & Recreation Officer 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

16. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Gurjit Bains, Cllr Aaron Elliott, Cllr Baljit 
Hayre, Cllr Tony Rana and Cllr Peter Scollard. Cllr Les Hoskins, Cllr Bob Lane, Cllr Brian 
Francis, Cllr Sarah Gow and Cllr Lyn Milner substituted respectively. 

17. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Thursday, 26 September 2019 were signed by the Chair. 

18. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made. 

19. Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme 

The Committee was provided with an overview of the Council’s major outdoor and Town 
Centre events programme that had taken place since April 2019, giving an indication of the 
scale of commitment that the Council makes to the programme.

The Leisure & Resilience Manager advised that the section on Community Engagement 
events had been removed and submitted to the Committee as a separate agenda item. 

The Leisure & Resilience Manager directed Members attention to section two and three of 
the report which briefly summarised all of the outdoor events and Town Centre events that 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 25.11.2019

2

had occurred within Gravesham during 2019; pictures of the events were attached at 
appendices two and three to the report. 

A short video of the 2019 Riverside Festival, organised by the Council and in partnership 
with local groups and organisations was shown to the Committee. 

The Committee discussed and praised the following events: 

 The fireworks down at the Promenade attracted ten thousand people and was very 
popular with the public 

 The war memorial Remembrance services were well attended, even more so than 
the previous year and it was positive to see a great turnout at Cascades for the first 
RAF memorial service held there 

The Committee raised the following points for consideration:  

 The Cascades memorial service needed to be built upon for future years; the event 
encountered a few problems due to the short notice given and would need further 
Council support to make it a more popular event 

 A balance would need to be found with the different memorial services so that one 
event did not detract from another; some events could be held on a different day to 
Remembrance Sunday 

 St John’s Catholic Secondary School had taken over the running of the Denton 
Memorial Service from the elderly residents and currently had no financial support 
from the Council; the Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the Council had 
not been approached for funding. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) added that there were many memorial services in 
Gravesham and he had to be careful not to overstretch his team with so many events out of 
normal working hours. It is always beneficial when other organisations take a lead on 
arrangements for a number of the memorial events. 

A short discussion was had on the Veterans Hall on Clarence Place; it was accidently shut 
on Remembrance Sunday and the keys couldn’t be located to unlock it due to the regular 
key holder being on leave. This was not seen to be a problem that would occur again in the 
future. 

Members all agreed that the work carried out by the Leisure Team was of a very high 
standard and the Chair asked that the Committee’s congratulations and thanks be minuted 
for all officers involved with the Events Programme.  

Members noted the range of larger scale events organised by the Council and in partnership 
with others. 

20. Summer Fun 2019 

The Committee were provided with the outcome of the Summer Fun Programme
2019. 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 25.11.2019

3

The Sports & Recreation Officer outlined key headlines from the report to Members 
informing them of the activities that occurred during the Programme and the positive 
feedback from those who took part.
  
The Leisure & Resilience Manager added that there were a mixture of activities that were 
directly managed by the Council and other local agencies and the main thrust of the 
Programme was encouraging the use of public parks. There were full event days at Gordon 
Promenade, Cascades Leisure Centre, Higham Recreation Ground and Camer Park, 
between 11am and 3pm which families were able to attend. 

In a response to a query about the exclusion of Woodlands Park, the Sports & Recreation 
Officer advised that the site was used in previous years but it became too big; Dashwood 
Road became congested with parked cars and the public did not utilise the parking that was 
made available at St George’s Secondary School on the day.  As such, it was deemed 
necessary to move the event to Cascades, not too far away, as it had plentiful parking and a 
bus service from the Town. 

Members noted the levels of participation in this year’s Summer Fun programme. 

21. Community Engagement Events & Activities 2019 

The Committee were provided with an overview of the Community Engagement events and 
activities that happened during 2019. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) directed Members attention to section 
two and three of the report which summarised all of the Events & Activities and the 
Gravesend Market Events that occurred within Gravesham during the course of the year; 
pictures of the events were attached at appendix two  to the report. Members were advised 
the Market items would be taken out and put into a separate report next year.  

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) referenced table 2 in the report 
correcting an error; the estimate total people in attendance was 5500.  

The series of outdoor summer cinema screenings held on the Community Square were 
planned at short notice as the opportunity arose to have them on the screen that was hired 
to be used at the Riverside Festival. The films chosen to be screened were very popular, 
drawing large crowds, outlined at 2.10, even when it was raining on one of the event days. 
Local businesses were worked with in the adjacent area to promote their own businesses 
and encourage the public to stay in Gravesend after the films had finished. Due to the 
popularity of the outdoor cinema events, further screenings are planned to be held next year. 

Members were appreciative of the plan for further screenings being held next year and 
queried whether The Woodville’s cinema had achieved any further attendance from the 
screenings and if it could be promoted as part of next year’s events. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) explained that there hadn’t been any 
increased attendance to the Woodville’s attributed to the outdoor screenings, but the team 
were keen to ensure that there wasn’t any conflict between the events and The Woodville 
Cinema. The Woodville’s had a primary commercial focus and the outdoor screenings were 
free and only showed films that had already been previously screened at The Woodville’s. 
However, various people did go into the Civic Centre for refreshments and use of the 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 25.11.2019

4

facilities. The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) advised that promotion of 
The Woodville Cinema could be tied into the Outdoor Cinema events next year. 

It was pointed out by a Member that the ‘North West Kent Muslim Association’ listed at 2.7 
was incorrect; the correct title was ‘Gravesend and Dartford Muslim Association’. The 
Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) apologised and to the wording would be 
amended. 

The Committee expressed their thanks to officers for their hard work organising the 
Community Engagement events and asked that Kirsty Gaunt be made aware of the 
Committee’s thanks for her role in organising the Community Litter Picks.

Members noted the range of events and activity undertaken to engage and develop a more 
cohesive community. 

22. Gravesend Borough Market Research & Member Working Group 

The Committee was asked to set out: 

 headline findings from the research exercise
 terms of reference for a proposed Member Working Group

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatres Services) directed Members attention to the 
summary of findings on page 42 outlining key information. Members were also informed of 
the research that looked at six specific areas within the Market and drew out what was 
working well and potential areas for consideration. Those six areas are listed below and 
elaborated further on pages 43-45 of the report:  

1. Identifying consumer attitudes and behaviours towards markets and in particular 
Gravesend Borough Market

2. Gain an understanding about what consumers want from Gravesend Borough Market 
and how to meet the needs of varying demographics

3. Recognise the impact and appeal of pop-up markets and events

4. Explore thoughts and behaviours surrounding the food court

5. Establish the most effective and engaging methods of promoting and advertising the 
market and its offerings

6. Summarising the unique offering for Gravesend Borough Market traders

The Committee was reminded that at the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee in June, 
it was requested that a Member Working Group was set up to review the research 
information. On consultation with the Chair of the Cabinet Committee, the attached Terms of 
Reference were developed and attached at appendix two to the report. 

In response to a Members query about the formation of the Committee, the Chair advised 
that: 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 25.11.2019

5

 There will be a politically balanced split of Members on the group from Labour, 
Conservatives and Independent 

 Upon approval of the Terms of Reference, the membership will be decided by the 
Chair and the first meeting will be held before Christmas; as stated in the TOR, there 
was to be a maximum of three meetings held before a report is submitted to the 
meeting of Community & Leisure Committee on Wednesday, 26 February 2019 

 The meeting did not need to be advertised as it was an internal sub-group meeting 
 The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) had already conducted a vast 

amount of work into the consultation and Market research which Members would be 
able to review 

 The in depth report laid out the key findings and offered solutions to increase the 
popularity of the Market such as longer opening hours so that young people would be 
enticed to visit later in the evening. The report also included various representations 
from the traders within the market, the people that visited it most frequently and 
people that didn’t regularly use it 

 How to get further organisations to utilise the spaces at Market such as the ‘snug’; 
some groups with Gravesham already hire out the ‘snug’ area and provide footfall to 
the food traders. The intention is that organisations use parts of the Market for 
meetings which promotes the Market as a friendly meeting space while also 
promoting the traders within 

Concern was raised by a Member that there were only positive reviews and outlooks with no 
consideration given as to why the public weren’t going into the market and no details on 
policing of the market. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) advised that there was wider work 
being carried out to improve the economy of the Town Centre and the consultation purely 
looked at the operations of the market and how to improve the footfall based on the 
consultation research. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) added that the market was in a prime location 
alongside the redevelopment planned in the Town Centre by Reef which would be 
completed within the next five years. That development will include new residential units 
which will bring more people to live in the Town Centre, leading to increased footfall. Lots of 
positive promotion will be carried out during that development to change the public’s 
perception of the Town. 

Members agreed to the terms of reference attached at appendix two and for a meeting of the 
Member Market Working Group to be held before Christmas. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:20pm. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 6 February 2020

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2019-20 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to December 2019).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides the Members of Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2019-20, covering the period October to 
December 2019. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which 
therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning 
processes.

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.   
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1 People.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital 
implications are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  
'PI 51: online self-help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1 People and #2: Place.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E  
C O M M I T T E E

Performance    report 
Q  3  :  2  0  1  9  -  2  0

P
age 13



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

636 774 556

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction of 

crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

Key Community Safety activity has included:

• MHCLG Domestic Abuse Fund is being used to deliver the Step Change Project with Choices, providing 

intensive support to victims of domestic abuse with complex needs and their children;

• MHCLG (Migration Fund) Altogether Stronger Project – The Gr@nd Project has been opening 7.00pm-

10.00pm on Friday evenings to promote integration between young people from across communities with 

30-50 young people regularly attending.  Food and Music events are being delivered, with an Afro-

Caribbean Experience successfully held at the Borough Market in October;

• Gravesham Vulnerability Forum and the Gravesham Organised Crime Group Partnership have met on a 

monthly basis providing tailored support to vulnerable adults and greater intelligence sharing between 

agencies resulting in the disruption of several local OCGs; 

• Rough Sleeper Initiative meetings are supported by the Community Safety Unit (CSU) working with 

Housing Needs and voluntary agencies such as Sanctuary, Porchlight and Change, Grow, Live, providing 

intensive work with long-term rough sleepers;

• A review of the council’s CCTV stock was completed.  A further three mobile CCTV units have been 

purchased and four new permanent cameras introduced in the Riverside Leisure Area;

• The council’s Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement has been updated. Two training 

sessions were also delivered for council staff and partner agencies, by Stop the Traffik, to raise awareness 

and inform staff of how to report such cases should they encounter them;

• Multi-agency seasonal work was carried out in the Fort Gardens/Promenade area with security staff in the 

summer (6.00pm-10.00pm) to allow earlier intervention where individuals were witnessed engaging in ASB 

and better intelligence-sharing with Kent Police;

• The Home Office funded Altogether Safer VAWG Project delivered its third annual conference in 

September with approximately 300 women and girls from our BAME communities in attendance.  

• An Evening and Night-time Economy Audit was completed in the town centre by staff from several 

departments including the CSU, Licensing, Economic Development and with Local Councillors to help us 

assess what the town has to offer in terms of entertainment, services and facilities in the evenings/at night-

time, footfall, street cleanliness and lighting, feelings of safety. Findings are currently being collated.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

3,000

3,100

3,200

3,300

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

400

600

800

1,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 14



P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

17 16 28

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing 

environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

O U T T U R N 

Safer Place Officers (SPO) cover several areas of work where they are able to give advice and education, 

for example SPO have educated commercial premises who have placed waste outside their premises on 

unallocated days. Waste Agreements are checked, guidance is provided and Waste Management have 

written to several premises in order to give advice and enforce where necessary. 

When SPOs witness littering offences they issue tickets and educate members of the public when it 

appears they may discard of waste inappropriately. Shopping trolleys are reported as abandoned with 

retailers being advised of locations in order to pick up discarded trolleys. 

SPOs can also enforce the Public Space Protection Order for alcohol under certain circumstances, for 

example a group of drinkers was advised to cease drinking in the area. The group complied with the 

request so no Fixed Penalty Notice was issued. 

Fly tipping is reported to Waste Management alongside any photographic evidence. As part of the SPO 

duties dog fouling can be enforced with an FPN, however it is rare to witness taking place but have 

educated dog walkers in disposing of waste.

In the year to date, two further SPOs have been recruited (who will have a vehicle) taking the Team to five 

officers, enabling them to cover parts of the Borough beyond the town centre.    

0

10

20

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 15



P I  37

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Total number of leisure centre attendees

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes to 

tackle local health inequalities.

Leisure Centres: 

The total number of leisure centre visits for Q3 was 194,043, compared to 186,478 for the same period last 

year. The membership base at the leisure centres has changed noting GCLL’s focus on families and 

health, with a 41% increase in their medical membership (those with type 2 diabetes or heart disease) and 

a 21% increase in our youth memberships. Also, very encouraging is a 304% increase in GCLL’s Saver 

membership (up to 376 memerships), which is available to members of our community on low 

income/benefits.  Repair works to the roof at Cascades (damaged last year during high winds) commenced 

in December with a projected completion date of March 2020. In addition to these closures, the pool at 

Cascades was closed from 16 December till the early New Year to carryout essential programmed repairs 

to the flumes. These will include enhancements to the ride surfacing, lighting and speed/timing boards for 

users. 

Active Gravesham:

During Q3, walking football and walking netball sessions at Cygnet continue to be popular. Other ‘Back to’ 

activities are now being explored. Another activity development area that has been extremely successful 

has been parkrun. The council recently contributed to the initial setup costs of a new run at Cyclopark, to 

sit alongside the existing run at Shorne Woods Country Park and the junior parkrun at the Gravesend 

Riverside Leisure Area.  In Q2, the Summer Fun programme included a mixture of free and paid activities 

primarily targeting young people aged between 0 to 14 years of age. Activities this year included Park Life 

sessions, gymnastics & trampolining, swimming, fishing, bug hunting, street dance and basketball. Total 

attendance in physical activity related activity was approximately 6,197. The prospective leaseholders of the 

Fleet Leisure site, EUFC Elite Ltd, have recently submitted a full planning application for the development 

of the site, which will include a number of 3G floodlit pitches, grass pitches and centralised sports pavilion, 

including social areas, changing rooms and fitness suite.

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 16



P I  40

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

974 595 1,011

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living services

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support 

and safeguard vulnerable residents. 

The Gr@nd have held three One You Weight Loss Groups during Q3 over a 10 week period. These 

sessions were based at NRG Fitness situated within the town centre, as well as Cascades Leisure Centre 

and Cygnet Leisure Centre.

The Seniors Get Active and Ready Steady Go exercise sessions have also taken part during this period. 

These sessions are held in the Gr@nd building, aimed at those with low mobility or lower impact 

movements for the older members of the community. 

Staff members have continued with One You Drop In sessions within the dedicated LSOAs – these 

include, Town Centre, Northfleet, Westcourt and Kings Farm. One You is a free service designed to help 

you be healthier and feel better. Advisors offer one-to-one support, with guidance available to help people; 

stop smoking, drink less alcohol, to move more and to achieve a more healthy weight. 

Q3 also saw the busiest period for the Youth Work aspect of the Gr@nd, with the Gifted Young Generation 

(GYG) Showcase in the Woodvilles (15 November) and Aloud 2 Laugh taking place at Blakes Nightclub 

(19 December).  The Gifted Young Generation (GYG) showcased young people’s talents and skills from 

across the borough with over 200 young people taking part in the event and the creative workshops. The 

young people created the props, hair styles and make-up as well as documenting the event with 

photography and compering the evening - they also cooked for our VIP guests, and spent months creating 

the menu. The event helped raise money and awareness for the Gr@nd’s Active Listening Service which is 

a FREE counselling service for young people held twice a week.
300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 17



P I  41

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 

initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 

with its partners

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

In Q1 the Great British Spring Clean continued and four community litter picks were delivered. The Romani 

Slovak Czech group were supported in their celebrations of International Roma Day with Flag Raising on 

Community Square and an event in Fort Gardens.  Community groups were supported in organising flag 

raising celebrations for Vaisakhi and Eid on Community Square.  Cohesion Plus led the annual St George's 

Day Parade and a Fusion Celebration through the town.  Support was provided to members of the local 

Afghan Community in setting up a community group which was launched with an event on 30 April 2019.

In Q2 following the successful outdoor free film screening of Mama Mia on Community Square, two further 

screenings were organised for The Greatest Showman and Bohemian Rapsody.  The High Street 

Collective were supported in organising a volunteer planting session along the High Street and Market car 

parks.  In July, a Gravesham walk was organised to support the T100 walks along the Thames in Kent and 

Essex with a free walk along the Thames and Medway Canal from Higham to Gravesend finishing at the 

market for an evening food celebration.  

In Q3 Black History month began with an exhibition in the Blake Gallery celebrating Black Britons and 

assisted by Youth Ngage.  An African/ Caribbean market spectacular was organised with community 

representatives and was well supported.  Nigerian Hip Hop artist Breiss delivered rapping workshops in 3 

local primary schools.  Scout groups across the borough organised litter picks.  The knitted poppy project 

continued to receive donations and were used to create displays on community square and in the market 

and an Armistice service was held on community square.  The local Hindu Cultural Society were supported 

to deliver a Diwali celebration using both LV21 and St Andrews Art Centre.   The Gravesend District Rotary 

Club secured 4000 crocus bulbs to raise awareness of polio which with the help of St George's CofE 

secondary and primary school have been planted in Woodland's Park ready for spring.  A faith walk was 

organised through the town with local faith communities to mark inter-faith week, this ended at the 

Gurdwara where celebrations were continuing for the Guru Nanak 550th birthday.  The Clock Tower 

following requests from the community has been illuminated pink for baby loss awareness week and purple 

for World Polio Day.  The Roma, Slovak, Czech group were supported in organising a St Nicholas Day 

event in the town which this year included a horse-drawn carriage which finished on Community Square 

were St Nicholas handed out presents.  

0

10

20

30

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 18



P I  42

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

10,658 12,358 21,127

P I  43

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

In Q3, the Borough Market sustained a higher level of footfall as a result of a number of events and 

activities taking place in the Building. These included Vintage and Handmade Craft Fairs, a Youth market - 

showcasing young traders between the ages of 16 and 30 years old, a Twilight market, Vinyl record fair and 

a four week programme of Christmas activities including family cinema screenings, Christmas markets, 

crafts and a very popular Santa's grotto.  High footfall days remain Saturdays & Sundays, followed by 

Tuesdays where there is a regular market including fruit & vegetable stalls, fabric stall, clothing retailer and 

bakery.  These are in addition to the permanent food traders and retailers within the permanent business 

units.  

The Woodville has enjoyed a strong Christmas season with good panto sales and sales for the in-house 

Christmas shows. The current panto producer is keen to continue the relationship with The Woodville and 

tickets for the 2021 season are already being requested by patrons. The panto dominates the Christmas 

season and so other events have not taken place but early signs for the new season are strong. Our youth 

and education offer is developing a strategy to give it a different emphasis to the regular hirer, Centre 

Stage. The basis of this work is focussed on the direction described in the Arts Council consultation 

document for the next ten years in which significant importance is given to work with and for young people. 

The Woodville is continuing to deliver a safe core programme whilst identifying developing strands in the 

wider industry. The development of these events informs the audience development strategy for the venue 

and the borough. Work has started on this year's Fringe Festival which will take place as part of the wider 

Estuary 2020 festival in autumn 2020. ACE are keen to develop the fringe and The Woodville's wider remit 

within the borough through Gravesham Arts Salon.

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

O U T T U R N 

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough Market 

as community assets.

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

6,400

6,600

6,800

7,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 19



P I  44

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

Annual indicator Annual indicator

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Heritage - The Heritage Sites, namely Milton Chantry and New Tavern Fort have been closed from October 

and will re-open in April 2020. The Cold War Bunker in Woodlands Park is the exception and is open from 

January to November with monthly sell out tours which are booked through the Visitor Information Point. 

The sites are operated by volunteer group Thames Defence Heritage and as well as staffing during open 

weekends they also carry out low level maintenance and weekly site checks throughout the year. The 

annual 1940’s themed event, Hope and Glory, had good numbers on Saturday 27 September but was 

cancelled on Sunday 28 due to bad weather. 

Arts - During Q2 and Q3, the council worked in partnership with KCC to produce a creative arts project to 

promote the Turner Prize being hosted in Margate at the Turner Contemporary. Connect Together’ was a 

three month artist led, community engagement project across 15 train stations in North Kent, designed to 

reach new audiences to visit the Turner Prize exhibition and participate in creative activity. The Gravesham 

element of the project worked with creative producers, LV21 and Cohesion Plus along with artist Xtina 

Lamb and local community groups.

A poppy chandelier installation was created for Remembrance 2020 inside Gravesend Borough Market 

using hundreds of hand knitted and crocheted poppies. The project was led by professional artist Paivi 

Seppala and engaged with five local community groups along with two public drop in sessions. The ten 

giant poppies chandeliers were on display from 14 October to 17 November.

Tourism - The Visitor Information Point at the market is proving a very successful point of contact for 

residents and visitors to the Borough alike. In November it was decided that from January 2020 it would 

open Tuesday to Sunday. The Tourism Team works very closely with Gad’s Hill Place, promotes and 

books tours to visitors on behalf of the trust. This year has been exceptional with 452 bookings dealt with 

and booked through the visitor information point, compared to 209 in 2018. The Tourism Team along with 

Arts & Heritage are working on developing a programme of events to commemorate the 150th anniversary 

of Dickens’ death on 9th June 1870. Events will take place from May 2020 onwards.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and expand 

the visitor economy.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 20



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Committee 

Date: 6th February 2020

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway

Subject: Corporate Partnership Register 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform members of the Community and Leisure Committee of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations:
1. This paper is for information purposes only 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community. Partnership working can add many benefits to the delivery of services 
by enabling the council to develop better understanding of the needs of the public 
through shared perspectives. This, in turn, can result in the avoidance of 
duplication, sharing of skills, knowledge and data, securing of additional 
resources, improved service delivery to the customer and improved customer 
satisfaction

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships which provides a central 
record of partnerships in which the council is involved. The register is available on 
the council website and is reviewed and updated on an annual basis; the last 
review took place in April 2019.

1.3 This year reflects the new administration and updated objectives and how the 
partnerships support the new Corporate Plan. 

2. Community and Leisure Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Community & 
Leisure Committee are as follows: 

2.1.1 Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG)

2.1.2 CCTV Partnership

2.1.3 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

Page 23 Agenda Item 8



2

2.1.4 GO TRADE

2.1.5 Gravesham Arts Council 

2.1.6 Gravesham Gateway 

2.1.7 G-Safe

2.1.8 Thames Defence Heritage 

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships overleaf is shown at 
appendix two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these 
partnerships and the contribution they make to delivering services to the 
community. 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Working in Partnership Framework – April 2016

 Corporate Register of Partnerships – April 2019

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 24



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working arrangements will contribute to all of the Corporate 
Plan objectives in particular, #3 Progress by being an entrepreneurial authority 
looking at ways to be successful in managing an ever-increasing demand for our 
services and customer expectations on the quality we provide. 

Crime and Disorder The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Community Safety Partnership and G-Safe.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no direct digital and website implications with this report. 

Page 25

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Children's Boards that are in operation across the council.

Page 26



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

December 2019

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Page 27



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve one or more objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“a partnership for which there is a council resource proLeevision of £10,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s Corporate Plan.  Without this 
effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals 
would not occur.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant
3 Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG)
5 CCTV Partnership 
7 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

10 GO TRADE 
12 Gravesham Arts Council
14 Gravesham Gateway 
16 G-Safe 
18 Thames Defence Heritage

Glossary of Terms (Page 20)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 28



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG)

Responsible Officer Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To deliver a multi-agency project (Altogether Safer) over three years to reduce 
different forms of violence against women and girls through: improved access to 
and provision of services to support victims; increasing the percentage of 
victims willing to support a prosecution; preventative work with boys and young 
men; and, raising awareness of and improving access to services by victims 
from BAME communities and hard to reach groups.   

Expected outcomes Delivery of an ‘out of hours’ Police Station-based Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor Service will fill a gap in existing services and make support 
available at critical times.  This should reduce the level of repeat victimisation 
and result in an increase in the local rate for the prosecution of offenders of 
VAWG.  
Group work and 1:1 support for boys and young men aged 11-18 years will 
effect a change in behaviour that will reduce the potential for them to 
offend/reoffend in terms of VAWG.
Work with BAME communities and hard to reach groups will help to break down 
barriers that may be preventing some victims from seeking the help and 
assistance they need.    

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1 People 
 Creating stronger neighbourhoods 
 Safeguarding and putting our residents first 
Corporate Objective #2 Place 
 Develop a cohesive and resilient community 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

The Council is the lead partner agency coordinating and overseeing the delivery 
of the project and its financial management.  The CSU’s Strategic Manager 
quarterly financial monitoring reports and detailed mid-year and year-end 
progress reports to the Home Office and has responsibility for ensuring the 
project is delivered in accordance with the project’s details submitted in the 
original application for funding to the Home Office Transformation Fund.
Regular meetings of the Altogether Safer Project Delivery Group are organised 
by the CSU and attended by Strategic Manager (chair) and administration is 
completed by the CSU Administrator.    Bi-monthly progress reports are 
provided via the CSU to the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum and on a 
quarterly basis to the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.
The Project is being funded almost in its entirety over three years with a Home 
Office grant of £229,000.  This is paid in arrears and the Council is forward-
funding the initiative.  Meetings of the Project Delivery Group are hosted at the 
Council’s Civic Centre.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council
Kent Police
Choices (formerly North Kent Women’s Aid)
Kent Equality Cohesion Council
Rethink Mental Illness (locally Rethink Sahayak)
Dartford Borough Council

Governance arrangements Separate Service Level Agreements are in place between the Council and 
Choices, KECC and Rethink Mental Illness whilst a Grant Agreement is in place 
between the Council and the Home Office.

Page 29



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

A separate Cost Centre has been created for the Project and financial reporting 
systems have been agreed with partners.
Financial and progress reports are provided to the Home Office quarterly in 
accordance with the Grant Agreement.
Partners are asked to provide regular reports throughout the year of expenditure 
to the CSU and via the Project Delivery Group (process for reporting is included 
in the Project’s Delivery Plan).

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of 
partnership arrangements.

Performance monitoring currently takes place on a bi-monthly basis through the 
meetings of the Project Delivery Group.  The different strands of the project 
have clear and agreed targets against which progress is assessed.
Progress reports on the project are also provided (by the CSU) to the Dartford 
and Gravesham CSP and to the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum.  An annual 
report is prepared at the end of each financial year.

Risk Assessment The partnership does not present a risk to the Council; the partnership has 
provided an opportunity for key partners to deliver work that makes a significant 
contribution to both the Council’s own and the CSP’s objectives that would not 
have been possible without this externally provided funding.
The Council is forward-funding the project and claiming expenditure back from 
the Home Office in arrears.  Late announcement by the Home Office of 
successful bids (caused by the General Election) meant a delay in the start date 
of the project in Year One; however, a full spend was still achieved and 
reclaimed in 2017-18, in 2018-19 and full expenditure and delivery of all 
activities is expected for2019-20.  

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership makes a significant contribution to both vulnerable adult victims 
of domestic abuse and the children within their households by ensuring victims 
have access to services without delay, through preventative work with boys and 
young men and by increasing awareness of assistance available and how to 
access it amongst our BAME communities.  As such it supports the Council 
wider Safeguarding agenda.  Agencies involved in the delivery of the project are 
experts within their field and work directly alongside Kent Police in all dealings 
with victims and their families.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Created August 2017. Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

March 2020.

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 30



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership CCTV Services Partnership

Responsible Officer Simon Hookway (Assistant Director, Communities)
Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure  

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership, however, the partnership was established 
exercising powers under the Local Government Act 1972, Local 
Government Act 2000 and Localism Act 2011.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The aim of the Partnership is to provide benefit from a partnership 
arrangement between Gravesham, Medway, Maidstone and Swale to 
operate CCTV across those areas.  The CCTV Partnership operates as a 
distinct function of Medway Commercial Group (MCG) - a Local Authority 
Trading Company (LATC).

Expected outcomes Continuing improvements to the effectiveness and resilience of the CCTV 
service thereby making a positive contribution to deterring and preventing 
crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) as well as providing greater 
reassurance to residents, visitors to the borough and local business and 
retail partners. 

Benefits relate chiefly to economies of scale in the procurement of 
equipment and services and potentially some additional small savings if 
new business is generated by Medway Commercial Group.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1 People 
 Create stronger neighbourhoods 
 Enforce high regulatory standards 
 Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive 

town centre
 Safeguard residents and putting our customers first
Corporate Objective #2 Place
 Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy by ensuring a safe 

and welcoming town centre for the night time economy. 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Each participating authority pays an annual revenue cost taking into 
account the number of cameras held by that authority, maintenance and 
staffing.  In 2018-19, Gravesham’s revenue cost contribution was 
£144,800.  Each participating authority maintains ownership of its 
cameras and technical equipment.  Gravesham currently has 52 
permanent cameras, 3 mobile camera units with ANPR capacity and 5 
rapid deployment mobile cameras.
Assistant Director (Communities) serves on the Partnership Board 
(meeting quarterly), taking decisions on behalf of GBC (in consultation 
with the Lead Member, as necessary).  
Strategic Manager (Community Safety) acts as a substitute on the 
Partnership Board if necessary, attends Operational Management 
meetings as required and oversees operational matters e.g. deployment 
of mobile CCTV cameras.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council, Medway Council, Swale Borough Council 
and Maidstone Borough Council.

Page 31



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Governance arrangements The original Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) contains the Terms of 

Reference (ToR) for the partnership.  The Terms of Reference set out the 
practical governance arrangements for the partnership including details of 
membership, arrangements for meetings and the decision-making process 
of the partnership
In order to ensure ethical standards are maintained the service will be 
delivered in accordance with Home Office approved Codes of Practice 
The original contract supported by the MOA came to an end in March 
2017 and this is being extended via a Deed of Variation.  Discussions are 
currently taking place to agree a revised partnership arrangement.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The financial services for the partnership, including accountancy, internal 
audit and insurance services are provided by MCG.  
Each financial year, the Head of the CCTV Partnership is required to 
prepare business plan and a revenue budget for approval by the CCTV 
Partnership. The draft business plan and budget should be submitted to 
each of the Councils not later than 1 June in the year prior to it taking 
effect for their approval before it is adopted by the Partnership Board.  In 
addition to the budget for the next year, indicative budgets for each of the 
two subsequent years are also required to be provided.
In accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement, the Partnership 
Board receives quarterly financial monitoring reports.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Annual Business Plan for the partnership sets out the performance 
management arrangements and it is the responsibility of Medway Council 
to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place.

Risk Assessment The partnership undertakes risk assessment to analyse and manage risk 
effectively and maintains a risk register.  The risks identified form part of 
the business plan and/or are notified to the Councils by the Head of the 
CCTV Partnership.
Potential risks to the future of the Partnership itself include the willingness 
of partners to renew the contractual arrangements with MCG once the 
existing contract comes to an end (the withdrawal of any partner would 
impact the financial commitments required from those who remain).  

Safeguarding Obligations The presence of CCTV is valuable as a tool in promoting public safety 
generally but particularly useful in safeguarding children and vulnerable 
adults against harm.  Key examples include the use of CCTV in locating 
children/young people and adults who are reported missing, those 
suffering from mental health problems and for the protection of those that 
are street homeless. CCTV supports the Council’s wider Safeguarding 
commitment by providing an additional resource (particularly rapid 
deployment cameras) that can be utilised in specific locations where 
activity that presents a safeguarding risk is occurring e.g. hot spots for 
CSE, areas where young people may be being targeted by those involved 
in drug dealing/running.
The use of all our CCTV stock is governed by procedures as required by 
the ICO in respect of dealing with any matter identified as a priority, 
including safeguarding issues.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

01 October 2012 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

Current extension to contract due 
to end in March 2020.

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 32



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP)

Responsible Officer Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community &  Leisure

Statutory Status Statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To create a safer, cleaner place in which to live, work and socialise.

Expected outcomes Reductions in recorded crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB).

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1 People 
 Create clean, stronger, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks with an 

attractive town centre 
 Enforcing high regulatory and environmental standards
 Safeguarding residents
Corporate Objective #2 Place 
 Develop a cohesive and resilient community 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

External funding to support community safety activity is held by the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). This is provided to Community 
Safety Units (CSUs) subject to a satisfactory application to the PCC’s Office 
detailing how the funds are going to be spent. Applications are now made 
annually.  The total allocation available to Gravesham in 2019-20 is £35,043. 
A business case was submitted successfully earlier this year and payment 
has been received by the CSU (with a small tactical pot reserved to 
accommodate work that may come about as a result of a change in 
circumstances/unanticipated issue arising.  CSUs have previously been 
notified the PCC is reviewing financial plans and therefore, there may be 
changes to the method by which community safety funds are allocated or 
made available in future years.
Officer time is spent in preparing regular performance monitoring reports 
(including the statutorily required completion of a Strategic Assessment), 
community consultation exercises, review of the existing Partnership 
Community Strategy and the production of a revised Strategy each year if 
necessary to reflect current priorities and respond to changing 
circumstances.
Officer time is spent in attendance at and administration of the CSP. 
Additionally, officers attend and carry out the Agenda planning, minute-taking 
and other administration for other Community Safety meetings that have 
been established to address CSP priorities e.g. Gravesham Vulnerability 
Group and a multi-agency Organised Crime Group.
There are shared Partnership resources through the co-location of Council 
officers and Kent Police representatives who work alongside Council staff on 
a daily basis.  Kent Police contribute to the cost of Council office 
space/furniture and utilities used by Police officers.  Both the G-Safe Crime 
Reduction Initiative Coordinator and a Kent County Council Community 
Warden are also located within the CSU.  Desk space and utilities are 
provided to these colleagues without financial cost to their organisations, 
they attend the CSU Daily Briefing Meetings and intelligence that they share 
is invaluable.  

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council, Dartford Borough Council, Kent County 
Council, Kent Police, Kent Fire and Rescue Service, Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office, Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation 
Company and Kent and Medway NHS.

Page 33



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Governance arrangements The Partnership has an established set of agreed governance arrangements 

that have been in place since the joint Dartford and Gravesham CSP was 
established in 2006.  Specifically, the governance arrangements set out the 
following:

 Remit;
 Membership;
 Staffing arrangements;
 Chairmanship;
 Finance and audit arrangements;
 Risk management commitments;
 Business planning process;
 Voting rights;
 Operational arrangements.

A CSP Executive Group comprised of the Director (Communities) GBC, 
Strategic Director, DBC and the Kent Police Chief Inspector (Area 
Commander for both Boroughs), oversees the annual Strategic Assessment 
process and the identification of yearly Partnership priorities.  The Group also 
meets quarterly to agree matters that should form Agenda items for 
forthcoming meetings.
The findings of the Assessment and suggested priorities as recommended by 
the Executive Group are subject to the approval of the main Partnership 
following public consultation.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Budgetary reports are provided to the Main CSP meetings with a breakdown 
of expenditure and a brief description of the outcomes of initiatives that have 
been financed.  The CSU also provides a full report to the PCC’s Office 
detailing how the funding allocation received has been spent and how the 
expenditure has supported tackling both the  CSP’s and Commissioner’s 
priorities.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details 
of formal review of 
partnership arrangements.

Performance monitoring reports are provided to the Main CSP at quarterly 
meetings.  These reports include detailed information on crime trends and 
changes in recorded ASB incidents as well as progress reports on the 
delivery of project work.  The Strategic Assessment process, completed 
towards the end of each calendar year, provides an opportunity for a review 
of activities carried out and their impact.  Changes in priorities in response to 
differing circumstances or crime trends will also involve the Partnership in 
simultaneously considering whether any changes are also needed to 
partnership working arrangements e.g. whether a new Sub-Group needs to 
be formed to deliver joint work to address a new priority at an operational 
level or the CSP needs to respond to responsibilities created by new 
legislation.
The annually reviewed Community Safety Strategy also takes account of the 
findings of public consultation exercises ensuring that issues that are 
considered most important by local residents are built into planned 
Partnership activity.
Our CSP is unusual in that it is a joint Dartford and Gravesham Partnership 
but each Borough has its own Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee to 
comply with the provisions of the Police and Justice Act 2006.  
Gravesham’s Committee allows an opportunity for the close scrutiny of crime 
and disorder issues and Partnership work being delivered to address them 
e.g. Reducing Re-offending, Domestic Abuse, Tackling Drug and Alcohol 
related Crime and ASB, have been specific areas of work considered by the 
Committee in the past, providing a further means of monitoring the 
effectiveness of joint approaches in tackling priorities.

Page 34



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Risk Assessment There has been a very considerable reduction external funding provided to 

support Community Safety activity in recent years (our annual allocation 
being almost a quarter of amounts received 10 years ago).  Currently, there 
is no confirmation that processes for securing PCC funding will not change 
next year.  New arrangements and a move away from a District allocation is 
a potential risk to the ability of local CSUs to continue to deliver the range of 
projects/initiatives that have been fundamental in addressing the 
Partnership’s strategic priorities at an operational level thus far. 

Safeguarding Obligations The work of the partnership makes a significant contribution to improving 
community safety for local people as a whole but also delivers specific 
initiatives to reduce the risk of harm to people (of any age) who may be more 
vulnerable e.g. providing interventions to support victims of crime/persist 
ASB.
The CSP is the main local vehicle for cross-borough activity to improve public 
safety and therefore, directly supports the Council’s wider Safeguarding 
commitment.
Both Dartford and Gravesham CSUs and member agencies of the CSP have 
clear procedures in place to govern our response to safeguarding issues that 
may arise.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Created December 2006 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

--

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 35



Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership GO TRADE

Responsible Officer Simon Hookway, Assistant Director (Communities)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

GO TRADE is a market development project funded by the European Union 
Interreg Funding within the France/England Channel area. It aims to help 
market traders build sustainable businesses and increase visitors to towns 
with traditional markets, especially within the context of a more challenging 
retail environment.
Partners will work together to share experience and ideas and to establish 
programmes of markets and business support to reinvigorate traditional 
markets.  This will be undertaken under a strong GO TRADE brand, which in 
turn will help participating traders to trade in any partner market.
Each partner to deliver the GO TRADE project as stated in the application 
form and partnership agreement.

Expected outcomes Annual programmes of event/specialist markets.
Creation of business processes and support including training modules, 
videos and digital content for existing/ new market traders 
Development of the tourism product – including research and values, themed 
markets and events as well as digital tools including social media 
Click and collect retail trials 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #2 Place
 Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy 
 Raise Gravesham’s economic profile
 Promote a borough ‘open for business’
 Improve economic conditions
 Develop a cohesive and resilient community

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

Staff time in managing the project and participating in business support, 
tourism development, communication and research aspects of the project are 
being used as match funding (31%) to draw down European funds.  An 
auditor is involved as a first level controller to check and confirm funding 
claims.

Partnership membership Basildon Council (Lead Partner), University of Greenwich, National Market 
Traders Federation, Gravesham Borough Council, Great Yarmouth Borough 
Council, Great Yarmouth Town Centre Partnership, Visit Kent Ltd, Castle 
Point Borough Council, Ville de Louvigné du Désert, Agence d’urbanisme et 
de développement (AUD) Pays de Saint-Omer Flandre Intérieure, Chambre 
de L'agriculture Nord-Pas-de-Calais, Communauté de Communes du Pays 
de Lumbres, Ville de Caen, Office de Tourisme de Caen, Ville d-Amiens, Pas 
de Calais Tourisme.

Governance arrangements A formal GO TRADE partnership agreement has been signed by all partners.  
This sets out the governance arrangements for the project.

Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council        - 11 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Financial reporting deadlines are set by the European Union on a six monthly 
basis.
Internal monthly budget monitoring will be set up and the council submits 6 
monthly budget monitoring reports to the GO TRADE lead partners as part of 
the claim process.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details 
of formal review of 
partnership arrangements.

Six monthly performance monitoring is part of the financial claim process.  
The Lead Partner Basildon BC will report performance to individual partners. 
A set European Union/Interreg review process will be adhered to.

Risk Assessment Points raised by the council’s legal team have been satisfied in the setting 
and signing of the partnership agreement.
Overall, risks will be managed through internal monitoring and Lead Partner 
monitoring of the project.
Brexit will happen before the end of the GO TRADE project - 
https://interreg5a-fce.eu/assets/Uploads/BREXIT-9.pdf.  The Treasury has 
guaranteed to fully fund all projects agreed and approved prior to the UK 
leaving the EU.
The establishment of this partnership and the commitment of funding to it is 
timely in helping to focus activity in the next stage of the Market’s growth in 
terms of business support activity and funding of themed markets and other 
events.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Funding submission 
approved July 2017. 
Partnership agreements 
signed September 2017.

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

2020

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 37

https://interreg5a-fce.eu/assets/Uploads/BREXIT-9.pdf


Gravesham Borough Council        - 12 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Gravesham Arts Council (GAC)

Responsible Officer Lyndsey Thompson, Arts and Heritage Officer

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Delivery of local art development services and providing the opportunity to 
develop a rich and varied artistic and creative life through a Service Level 
Agreement (SLA).
The purpose of this SLA is to define the relationship between Gravesham 
Borough Council and Gravesham Arts Council, and to set out the terms of 
the working relationship between the two parties.

Expected outcomes The arts and cultural services provided by GAC shall be available to all 
who need assistance irrespective of disability, age, race, gender, sexual 
orientation, or religious belief.  A range of arts development services of a 
high standard shall be provided to the people of Gravesham by GAC and 
its members from the aims contained in the GAC Constitution, GBC 
Corporate Plan and Cultural Strategy.
GAC also manage and operate St Andrews Arts Centre in providing arts 
and cultural opportunities to the public and to recommend to GBC 
improvements to the facilities in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of the lease agreement. Opening hours will be in accordance with the 
premises licence and any other licence requirements

Links to GBC Strategic 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #2 Place 
 Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage 
 Develop a cohesive and resilient community 
 Enhancing the boroughs cultural offer 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 A grant of £6,000 payable annually in accordance with SLA.
 Premises cost budget: St Andrews Art Centre £3,930.
NB The arts centre is owned by GBC and rented to GAC. The rent is 
determined by Property Services.   As a rule all internal maintenance and 
service charges are the responsibility of GAC – with GBC responsible for 
external maintenance and repairs to the building.

Partnership membership Local arts organisations, individual art members, Council Members and 
Officers.

Governance arrangements The governance arrangements for the partnership with the Gravesham 
Arts Council are set out in the 2019-20 Service Level Agreement (SLA). 
The purpose of this SLA is to define the relationship between Gravesham 
Borough Council and Gravesham Arts Council and to set out the terms of 
the working relationship between the two parties.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Executive Committee of GAC shall monitor all of its financial dealings.  
The Executive Committee shall submit as part of the performance 
monitoring below provide  a copy of the current year’s audited accounts to 
GBC's showing in detail how the grant has been used (and what is 
planned) and a review of GAC’s activities by way of an Annual Report to 
include an updated business plan for the following year.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The total GBC grant funding available for GAC during the year 
commencing 1 April 2019 until 31 March 2020 is £6,000.  Under this 
arrangement GBC will receive a report from GAC on each planned event, 
but not limited to the events: attendance, performers, publicity, budget, 
content etc.  Subject to a satisfactory outcome the following grant funds 
would then be released.  

Page 38



Gravesham Borough Council        - 13 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Risk Assessment Although the St Andrews Art Centre revenue costs are currently relatively 
low, because the building was built in the late 19th century and constructed 
on the river bed of the Thames high maintenance costs could develop in 
the future.   

Safeguarding Obligations Currently under review.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

On-going Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

SLA agreed to 31 March 2020

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 39



Gravesham Borough Council        - 14 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Gravesham Gateway

Responsible Officer Anita Tysoe, Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Gateway is a partnership between Kent County Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council, set up to provide a wide range of public and voluntary 
services in one convenient location. 
Gateway is about creating better access for customers to a range of public 
services. In providing access at a single location, it is intended to: 
 improve the customer’s experience of seeking assistance by creating a 

friendly and approachable service providing joined up and effective 
delivery;

 improve service delivery by increased customer focus and sharing of 
information; and

 increase efficiency by working collaboratively. 

Expected outcomes Joining up of information to the benefit of customers; information sharing.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective: #3 Progress
 deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council
 Drive service improvement and corporate governance 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

 Management and Officer time to drive the direction of the Gateway and 
deliver customer service requirement. 

 The Gateway is located in the Civic Centre reception and there is use of 
facilities in the Civic Centre for Gateway staff.

Partnership membership Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council

Governance arrangements Current reporting mechanism covering financial planning, operational issues 
and general performance is in place between Service Manager (Customer 
and Theatre Services) and Director (Communities) (GBC), and Gateway 
Operations Manager. 
Decisions relating to the budget or fundamental changes are reported to 
Members.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Annual budget review and business planning.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of 
partnership arrangements.

Reports to GBC Management Team and Lead Member.

Risk Assessment KCC and GBC have signed agreements to deliver the joint Gravesham 
Gateway for a period of 15 years. KCC contribute 50% towards the costs of 
management, staffing and premises space. Generated income is also shared 
on a 50/50 basis.
The risk would be if the partnership arrangement were dissolved by either 
party then a share of the initial set-up and building costs would be awarded 
to the other party.

Safeguarding Obligations Gravesham Gateway consists of a number of service providers who deliver 
support and advice to vulnerable adults / children. These include, for 
example, Kent Police, Citizens Advice North & West Kent, Victim Support 
and Carers First, domestic abuse support, supported employment and 
housing advice.

Page 40



Gravesham Borough Council        - 15 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Safeguarding Obligations
continued

Whilst the specific delivery partners working within the Gateway change from 
time to time, the general range of support has continued to be offered or can 
be signposted.
The formal Gravesham Gateway partnership does not have its own Policy, 
however, both partners (Gravesham Borough Council and Kent County 
Council) do. Officers would follow their respective policy.
In the event of an incident within the Gravesham Gateway, Gravesham 
Borough Council’s procedures are followed

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

April 2010 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

2025 if runs to full term of 15 
years

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council        - 16 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership G-Safe

Responsible Officer Kath Donald (Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

G-Safe aims to:
 Reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour including alcohol-

related crime and disorder;
 Improve the detection of crime with a view to apprehending and 

prosecuting offenders;
 Reduce fear of crime and the effects of fear of crime;
 Create a safe and secure environment for customers, staff and 

visitors;
 Strengthen joint working between the business community, Police, 

Local Authority and other agencies and organisations both locally and 
in partnership with neighbouring Districts and Boroughs.

Expected outcomes Reductions in crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse;
Increased confidence within the business and retail community in 
Gravesham as a good place in which to invest; 
Improved public perceptions about personal safety and the promotion of 
Gravesham as a safe place to socialise.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1 People  
 Creating stronger neighbourhoods
 Safeguarding residents
 Creating a safe, welcoming, clean borough and town centre
 Enforcing regulatory and environmental standards
Corporate Objective #2 Place  
 By creating a safe place, enhance the vibrancy of the local economy
 Through partnership working, promote a borough that is ‘open for 

business’ within a cohesive and resilient community.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

The day-to-day management, delivery and financial control of the Scheme 
has operated independently of the Council since June 2011, bringing it in 
line with other Town Centre Crime Reduction initiatives and as 
recommended by Kent Police.  The G-Safe Co-ordinator is employed and 
managed directly by the G-Safe Board.  The Council provides the G-Safe 
Co-ordinator with an office desk based in the Community Safety Unit 
(CSU).
CSU officers attend and provide advice as appropriate to G-Safe Board 
meetings.  This ensures that good links are maintained between G-Safe 
Radionet members, the CSU and the CCTV service operating from 
Medway Control Centre.  The CSU works closely with the G-Safe Co-
ordinator and there are real advantages to her being co-located at the 
Civic Centre, including attendance at CSU Daily Briefing meetings and 
enabling the sharing of information particularly with Kent Police.
Close working between the CSU and G-Safe is also beneficial as the 
Scheme provides the CSU with further resources to deliver community 
safety projects and initiatives e.g. the Safer Socialising Scheme, Shop 
Safe Scheme for vulnerable people, the use of Exclusion Notices for those 
engaging in crime and ASB, that would otherwise be very difficult to fund 
or staff.
Quarterly G-Safe Board meetings are attended by the CSU Strategic 
Manager. Bi-monthly Members’ Meetings are also often attended as these 

Page 42



Gravesham Borough Council        - 17 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

are particularly helpful for information-sharing regarding prolific offenders.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council, Kent Police, local retailers, businesses and 
licensed premises, KCC Community Warden Service, Street Pastors, 
Medway CCTV Control Centre.

Governance arrangements The Scheme is governed by a Constitution and Code of Practice as 
agreed by the G-Safe Board to accurately reflect the current 
arrangements.  The Scheme’s operating practices are audited by the 
Association of Business Crime Partnerships (ABCP) and it has been 
recognised as having excellent procedures in place.  Audits by ABCP take 
place every two years and the last audit deemed the Scheme worthy of a 
Distinction for its governance arrangements.
The Strategic Manager or Operations Manager, CSU, attend the quarterly 
G-Safe Board meetings because of the benefits of our joint working but the 
Council does not have any voting rights.  Whilst Council officers attend 
these meetings they do not have any responsibility for their administration 
or governance – these functions are carried out by the G-Safe Co-
ordinator. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Financial management of the Scheme rests in its entirety with the G-Safe 
Board as the Scheme operates completely independently of the Council. 
We are not required to support the Scheme financially and the G-Safe 
Board conducts its own financial monitoring.  The Scheme has from time 
to time bid for CSU funding and is then subject to the same criteria and 
application process that applies to all other organisations approaching the 
CSU for financial support.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Scheme is a self-financing initiative with its running costs being met 
through Radionet membership fees. The CSU supports the G-Safe Board 
in efforts to promote the Scheme by providing the G-Safe Co-ordinator 
with details of any businesses that may be interested in becoming 
members and in opportunities to secure additional funding e.g. to improve 
the quality of the radio system in place.  Clearly a risk to the Scheme 
would be a fall in membership but to date membership numbers remain 
stable and the Scheme is currently financially secure.  

Risk Assessment The performance of the Scheme is monitored by the G-Safe Board at 
regular Board meetings to which CSU Managers are invited and the 
minutes of which are received.  Performance reports on issues, such as 
the number of persons on G-Safe Exclusion Orders, are provided to the 
CSU, on request.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership contributes to the protection of children and vulnerable 
people living in or visiting Gravesend town centre.  In particular, 
registration of vulnerable people onto the Shop Safe Scheme e.g. people 
with dementia/mental health issues who may become 
confused/disorientated when out, allows them to be assisted by any G-
Safe member premises who can access their details and contact a family 
member/carer. 
The Radionet Scheme has also been instrumental in locating 
children/young people and adults who are reported missing.
The G-Safe Scheme follows clear procedures when safeguarding issues 
arise and the advice of the CSU (Council and Police staff) is sought as 
necessary. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

As an independent entity, 
created in June 2011

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

--

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 43



Gravesham Borough Council        - 18 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Thames Defence Heritage

Responsible Officer Lyndsey Thompson, Arts and Heritage Officer

Lead Member(s) Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lead Member for Community & Leisure 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The promotion, development and maintenance of a fortifications and 
historical defence sites within the borough.  

Expected outcomes Within these objectives the partnership aims to restore and make 
accessible to public viewing:
 New Tavern Fort;
 The Civil Defence Control Centre at Woodlands Park; and
 Chantry Heritage Centre.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #2: Place 
 develop a cohesive and resilient community
 enhance the borough’s cultural offer
 promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage
Establish a programme of targeted community events and engagement 
opportunities to develop a more cohesive community.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 A fee of £4,200 per annum is paid to TDH to operate the Chantry 
Heritage Centre on behalf of GBC.

 GBC offers free use of the Civil Defence Control Centre and New 
Tavern Fort to TDH who charge a nominal fee for visitors to enter.

 Maintenance and repair costs for all facilities are the responsibility of 
GBC including service charges.

 G Safe radio is provided by GBC – FOC.
 Exhibits within the facilities are mainly in the ownership of TDH except 

for the CHC.
 Talking The Walk audio equipment installed in Chantry Heritage 

Centre and New Tavern Fort - GBC Ownership.

Partnership membership Thames Defence Heritage and Gravesham Borough Council

Governance arrangements The governance arrangements for the partnership with Thames Defence 
Heritage (TDH) are set out in the 2019-20 Operational Agreement. The 
purpose of this operational agreement is to define the relationship between 
Gravesham Borough Council and TDH and to set out the terms of the 
working partnership between the two parties.
In addition, a licence for access is in place for TDH to occupy New Tavern 
Fort and Civil Defence Control Centre. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The operational agreements are reviewed on an annual basis.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Monthly attendance figures are submitted by TDH.
Regular meetings arranged.

Risk Assessment The potential reduction in financial resources would severely undermine 
the corporate objectives.

Page 44



Gravesham Borough Council        - 19 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Early 1970’s Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 45



Gravesham Borough Council        - 20 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is a document which sets out the work plan for the 
team for the forthcoming financial year.

BAME communities Black Asian Minority Ethnic communities

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy - the UK Government 
department responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, 
energy, and climate change

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the local statutory body responsible for the 
commissioning of certain clinical health services for patients registered with local 
GP’s. Locally, the CCG is responsible across the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
areas.

CCTV Closed-circuit television (CCTV) is the use of video cameras to transmit a signal to a 
specific place, on a limited set of monitors; it is not openly transmitted

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) - the 
professional body for people in public finance.

Children Act 2004 The Children Act 2004 (c 31) is an Act of the Parliament of the United Kingdom.  It is 
the basis for most official administration considered helpful to children, notably 
bringing all local government functions of children's welfare and education under the 
statutory authority of local Directors of Children's Services.

Choices Choices (previously known as North Kent Women's Aid) was established in 1996 
and exists to provide help to Women and Children across North Kent who are 
experiencing domestic abuse.  

Climate Change Act 
2008

The Climate Change Act 2008 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which aims to 
enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and gives ministers 
powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of greenhouse gas 
reduction targets.

Code of Practice Written guidelines issued by the partnership to its members to help them comply 
with the standards expected of the partnership.

Cohesion Plus The aim of Cohesion Plus is to promote positive community relations in Kent, 
bringing communities together through the arts, public education and sport.

Page 46



Gravesham Borough Council        - 21 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Community Safety 
Fund

Formerly the Safer and Stronger Communities Fund.  Introduced for all Local 
Authorities in England in April 2005, the fund brings together central government 
(including Home Office) funding streams aimed at tackling crime, anti-social 
behaviour and drugs, empowering communities and improving the condition of 
streets and public spaces, prioritising the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Community Safety 
Plan

A plan that outlines how the partnership aim to address the five key priorities for the 
Gravesham area.

Company Limited by 
Guarantee

An alternative type of corporation used primarily for non-profit organisations that 
require a legal framework.  

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

CROW Act The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

CVSNWK Council for Voluntary Services North West Kent

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) - the UK Government 
department responsible for setting policy on supporting local government; 
communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, building and the 
environment; and fire.

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues.

EHO Environmental Health Officer

Emissions Inventory An emission inventory is an account of the amount of pollutants discharged into the 
atmosphere within the area.  

Energy Act 2011 The Energy Act 2011 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament setting out three key 
principles: tackling barriers to investment in energy efficiency; enhancing energy 
security; and enabling investment in low carbon energy supplies.

Energy Company 
Obligation

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme 
in Great Britain to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty.

Energy Saving Trust The Energy Saving Trust is the UK's leading impartial organisation helping people 
save energy and reduce carbon emissions by providing free, impartial advice and 
information to help people across the UK to find the best ways to save energy, 
conserve water and reduce waste.

Environment Act 
1995

The Environment Act 1995 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which created a 
number of new agencies and set new standards for environmental management.

Term Used Meaning

Page 47



Gravesham Borough Council        - 22 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Financial Conduct 
Authority

The Financial Conduct Authority is the conduct regulator for 56,000 financial 
services firms and financial markets in the UK and the prudential regulator for over 
18,000 of those firms.

FTE Full-time Equivalent (FTE) – the number of full-time equivalent staff that are working 
in the partnership.

HCA The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) is the national housing and 
regeneration delivery agency for England.

Health & Social Care 
Act 2012

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c 7) is an Act of the Parliament of the United 
Kingdom and sets out the reorganisation of the NHS in the UK.

Home Energy 
Conservation Act 
1995 (HECA)

An Act to make provision for the drawing up of local energy conservation reports in 
relation to residential accommodation, placing a duty on local authorities to complete 
this for council housing stock.

Homelessness Act 
2002

An Act to make further provision about the functions of local housing authorities 
relating to homelessness and the allocation of housing accommodation.

Home Office The Homes Office is the lead government department for immigration, passports, 
counter-terrorism, policing, drugs and crime.

Housing Act 1985 The Housing Act 1985 is a British Act of Parliament. The act introduced laws relating 
to the succession of Council Houses. It also facilitated the transfer of council 
housing to not-for-profit housing associations

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office

ICT Information Communications Technology (ICT).

Jobcentre Plus Jobcentre Plus is an executive agency of the Department for Work and Pensions. It 
is responsible for assisting people of working age find jobs through its network of 
Jobcentre Plus offices. It is also responsible for administering some benefits for 
people of working age and for the administration of National Insurance numbers.

Kent Waste Strategy A sustainable household waste management strategy that sets out how the Kent 
Waste Partnership will manage Kent’s waste over the next 20 years (Strategy 
approved in 2007).

Landlord and Tenant 
Act 1985

The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (c 70) is a UK Act of Parliament on English land 
law. It sets bare minimum standards in tenants' rights against their landlords.

Local Government 
Act 1972

An Act of Parliament in the United Kingdom that makes provision with respect to 
local government and the functions of local authorities in England and Wales.

Local Government 
Act 2000

An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local 
authorities and provision with respect to local authority elections; to make provision 
with respect to grants and housing benefit in respect of certain welfare services; to 
amend section 29 of the Children Act 1989; and for connected purposes.

LGA Local Government Association. A politically-led, cross-party organisation that works 
on behalf of councils to ensure local government has a strong, credible voice with 
national government.

Page 48

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament


Gravesham Borough Council        - 23 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

NACAB National Association of Citizens' Advice Bureaux

National Air Quality 
Strategy

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects.

Naturally Active 
Programme

The Naturally Active Programme utilises Big Lottery Funding and the project covers 
the areas of Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks and Bexley.  It is able to support 
groups and organisations to access the surrounding countryside through a variety of 
outdoor activities such as improving a green space, wildlife photography and 
outdoor sports.

New Homes Bonus The “New Homes Bonus” is a Government scheme which is aimed at encouraging 
local authorities to grant planning permissions for the building of new houses, in 
return for additional revenue.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Prince2 This is a project management method which covers the management, control and 
organisation of a project.

Police Crime 
Commissioner

Police and crime commissioner will be elected to ensure the policing needs of their 
communities are met as effectively as possible, bringing communities closer to the 
police, building confidence in the system and restoring trust

Police and Justice 
Act 2006

An act extending police powers and granting the Home Office greater control over 
operational policing.

Radionet A system of radio stations operating with each other in order to ensure fast 
communication across a wide ranging area

Registered Social 
Landlord 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) are government-funded not-for-profit 
organisations that provide affordable housing. They include housing associations, 
trusts and cooperatives.  They work with local authorities to provide homes for 
people meeting the affordable homes criteria.  As well as developing land and 
building homes, RSLs undertake a landlord function by maintaining properties and 
collecting rent.

S151 
Responsibilities

These are the statutory responsibilities that are designated to the council’s Chief 
Financial Officer, as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Page 49

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 24 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Section 106 Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local 
planning authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission. 
The obligation is termed a Section 106 Agreement.  They are increasingly used to 
support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing.

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of 
Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprise – a small or medium sized independent business that 
is managed by its owner or part-owners and has a small market share.

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative.

Strategic 
Assessment

Under the Police and Justice Act (2006), Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRP) are required to produce an annual strategic assessment which 
identifies the priorities they will tackle over the next 3 years.

Talking the Walk Talking the Walk provides audio tours which aim to enhance the visitor experience 
and preserve the town's heritage.  Tours have been produced for the Riverside, New 
Tavern Fort and Milton Chantry

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations – the United 
Kingdom's implementation of the European Union Business Transfers Directive, 
protecting employees whose business is being transferred to another business.

Unilateral Agreement An agreement in which one party makes a promise, but the other side does not 
promise anything.  Examples of these are offering rewards for the return of lost 
property.

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls. The United Nations defines this as: “Any act of 
gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or 
psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or 
arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life”. It 
includes; sexual violence, sexual harassment and bullying, stalking, trafficking, 
domestic abuse, female genital mutilation, forced marriage.

Page 50

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Business_Transfers_Directive

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - December)
	2. Appendix 2 - Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q3 2019-20.pdf

	8 Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee - Partnership Register Extract
	2. Corporate Register of Partnerships  - Extract Community & Leisure




